IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

10 Tr SUPREME COUR SETH BOSO, JIC COMPLAINT

IN THE MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH BOSO, MAGISTRATE OF NICHOLAS COUNTY,

10:04AM EST Transaction ID 75792060 SUPREME COURT NO. 24-0436 JIC COMPLAINT NO. 22-2024

SCA EFiled: Mar 07 2025

Respondent.

JUDICIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

.

Teresa A. Tarr, No. 5631 Brian J. Lanham, No. 7736 Judicial Disciplinary Counsel WV Judicial Tower, Suite 700A 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, WV 25304 (304) 558-0619 (304) 558-0831 (fax)

teresa.tarr@courtswv.gov brian.lanham@courtswv.gov

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was elected Magistrate of Nicholas County in the May 2024 election and was originally supposed to take office on January 1, 2025. Due to a vacancy, she was appointed Nicholas Magistrate and initially assumed the bench in July 2024. In January 2024, Respondent attempted to obtain the appointment to a vacant Kanawha County Magistrate position even though she was not domiciled there. In an effort to gain the seat, Respondent lied about her residence. Respondent admitted to the factual allegations and the violations of the Code of Judicial Conduct contained in the Formal Statement of Charges and agreed to a public censure, a two-month suspension without pay and the payment of costs.

The Judicial Hearing Board ("JHB") found that Respondent violated Rules 1.1, 1.2, 2.16(A), 4.1(A)(9), and 4.2(A)(1) and (2) of the Code and appropriately recommended a public censure, a two-month suspension without pay and the payment of costs in the amount of \$618.45. By Order entered January 23, 2025, the Supreme Court of Appeals stated that "it does not concur with the recommended sanctions from the Judicial Hearing Board" and required the parties to brief the matter. Based upon the factors set forth in *Matter of Cruickshanks*, 220 W.Va. 513, 648 S.E.2d 19 (2007) and the discipline meted out by this Court in several recent cases, the discipline recommended by the JHB and agreed to by the Respondent is appropriate.

П.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The sole assignment of error is whether the discipline agreed to by the Respondent and recommended by the Judicial Hearing Board is appropriate given the facts of this case.

III.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Although JDC would agree to submit this case on the briefs and record alone, the Court has indicated in its January 23, 2025 Order that the matter "shall be scheduled for oral argument under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure."

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Applicable Case Law Regarding Domicile.

W. Va. Code § 50-1-4 sets forth the qualifications to be a magistrate in West Virginia and provides in pertinent part that "[e]ach magistrate . . . shall reside in the county of his election." W. Va. Code § 50-1-6 states that "when a vacancy occurs in the office of magistrate, the judge of the circuit court or the chief judge thereof . . . shall fill the same by appointment." Thus, at the time of appointment, a candidate must reside in the County of his/her application. W. Va. Code § 51-3-18(a) and (c) provide:

(a) The Legislature finds that when judicial offices created under the Constitution and laws of the state are vacant for extended periods of time, the proper functioning of the judicial branch of the government is impeded. The Legislature further finds that when a vacancy in a judicial office is to be filled by appointment, it is in the public interest that any questions regarding the qualifications or eligibility of the person nominated or appointed to fill the vacancy be determined expeditiously.

. . . .

(c) When, pursuant to the provisions of section ten, article VIII of the Constitution of West Virginia and the general laws adopted thereunder, a person is appointed to fill a vacancy in the office of magistrate, no suit or action challenging the qualifications or eligibility of the person so appointed, if it be based upon any fact or circumstance in existence at the time of the appointment, will be cognizable in any court of this state unless it be brought within twenty days after appointment.

W. Va. Code § 3-10-1(b) states that appointments shall be made within 30 days of the vacancy unless the code specifically states a different time period for the specific office. Black's Law Dictionary 99 (6th Ed. 1990) defines the term "appointment" as it relates to public office or function as:

The selection or designation of a person, by the person or persons having authority therefor, to fill an office or public function and discharge the duties of the same. The term "appointment" is to be distinguished from "election." "Election to office usually refers to vote of people, whereas "appointment" relates to designation by some individual or group.

In State ex rel. Sandy v. Johnson, 212 W. Va. 343, 571 S.E.2d 333 (2002), the State

2

Supreme Court addressed "residence" as it related to a Webster County Commission candidate. Two individuals were vying for one seat on the Commission. At the time, Webster was divided into three districts (Central, Northern and Southern) and no two commissioners could come from the same district. The vacancy involved the Southern District. Both the winner of the primary election and the challenger claimed to reside there. However, the winner also owned a farm in the Central District, where he had been living at least until November 2001, and in which he continued to operate on a daily basis.

After the election, the challenger filed a petition for writ of mandamus over the results. The challenger claimed that the winner was not a resident of the Southern District when he filed to run for the seat and therefore was precluded from holding the seat. The Circuit Court agreed and ordered the winner's name removed from the general election ballot. The winner then filed a petition in the Supreme Court. The Court ultimately held that the winner had adduced competent evidence that he had changed his residence to the Southern District in a timely manner and could therefore remain on the ballot. The Court stated the following in Syllabus Points 5 through 9:

- 5. The West Virginia Constitution confers a fundamental right to run for public office, which the State cannot restrict unless the restriction is necessary to accomplish legitimate and compelling governmental interest.
- 6. In West Virginia, the term 'residence' is synonymous with the term "domicile" for election law purposes.
- 7. Domicile is a combination of residence (or presence) and an intention of remaining. If domicile has once existed, mere temporary absence will not destroy it, however long continued.
- 8. A [person] may live in several different places but he [or she] can have only one domicile. Domicile is a place a person intends to retain as a permanent residence and go back to ultimately after moving away.
- 9. The important facts in determining the domicile of a person who has more than one residence are the physical character or each, the time spent and the things done in each place, and whether or not there is an intention to return to the original domicile.

Id. (citations omitted). The Court also noted:

When this court weighs the evidence in a disputed residence case, we are mindful that "[a] domicile once acquired is presumed to continue until it is shown to have been changed In addition, where physical residency is a condition for election, "the residency requirement must be strictly construed". . . . Finally, "[t]he party alleging a change of domicile has the burden of proof."

Id. at 349-350, 571-S.E.2d at 339-40.

The Court found that the winner had provided "competent evidence" that he resided in the Southern District at the time he filed his candidacy papers. *Id.* The winner and his wife testified that he lived in the Southern District since November 2, 2001, and that he intended to make it his permanent home. *Id.* He acknowledged working daily at his Central District farm but indicated that he first spent six nights a week and eventually seven nights a week at his Southern District

home. *Id.* A Southern District neighbor also testified seeing the winner at his Southern District home "three fourths of the time" prior to the election including in January 2002. *Id.* According to the neighbor, he ran into the winner at the post office in January 2002 and was told that he was moving to the Southern District and running for County Commission there. *Id.* In 2001, the winner also began receiving his water, phone, electric and mail service at the Southern District residence. The mailing address for his homeowner's policy for the Central District farm was also changed to the Southern District address. *Id.* Lastly, the winner changed his voters' registration address in October 2001 to the Southern District address. The Court thus concluded that "this evidence proves that the winner resides" at the Southern District location and "that his intention is to remain there." *Id.*

In 2020, the State Supreme Court again addressed the issue of the word "reside" in *State ex rel. Justice v. King*, 244 W. Va. 225, 852 S.E.2d 292 (2020). In that case, the Governor filed a petition for writ of prohibition seeking to stop the Circuit Court of Kanawha County from enforcing a constitutional provision requiring him to reside at the seat of government during his term of office. The Court denied the petition finding that the governor's constitutional duty to reside at the seat of government during his term of office was a mandatory nondiscretionary duty.

In Syllabus pt. 6, the Court stated:

For purposes of the residency provision located in Section 1 of Article VII of the West Virginia Constitution, "reside" means to live, primarily, at the seat of government; and requires that the executive official's principal place of physical presence is the seat of government for the duration of his or her term of office. Residency, once established, is not lost through temporary absence. Rather, the controlling fact of residency is the intent to return to that principal place of physical presence.

Id. The Court also noted:

"[R]esiding" is not a matter of discretion, but rather one of intent – specifically, the intent to return to a certain place. As we previously have held when considering

the meaning of "residence," "[t]he controlling factor is the intent, as evinced primarily by the acts of the person whose residence is questioned. If an absence from a residence is intended to be temporary, it does not constitute an abandonment or forfeiture of the residence."

Id. at 239, 852 S.E.2d at 306.

B. Respondent's Inappropriate Attempt to Gain the Kanawha Magistrate Appointment.

Respondent was a longtime Magistrate Assistant – first in Nicholas County, then in Kanawha County and again in Nicholas County. She ran in the May 2024 election for Magistrate of Nicholas County. She won and was supposed to take office on January 1, 2025. However, because of a resignation effective June 13, 2024, she took office in Nicholas County on or around July 1, 2024. At all times relevant to the matters in question, Respondent was either an applicant for Kanawha County Magistrate, a candidate for election to Nicholas County Magistrate or Magistrate-Elect.

On January 23, 2024, Respondent filed an application to fill a vacancy created by the resignation of Kanawha Magistrate Mike Ferrell on or about January 19, 2024 (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 107-108, 128-131). On the application, Respondent listed her address as "______ Street, **Dunbar, WV**" (emphasis added). On page 1, she stated above "Home County" that she was "Working in Nicholas" (emphasis added). On page 2, she stated that she worked as a Magistrate Assistant in Nicholas from "03/23/2023 to 1/23/2024" (emphasis added). She also listed working as a Magistrate Assistant in Kanawha from "8/23/2019 to 3/22/2023" (emphasis added).

On page 2, Respondent signed and dated the application effective January 23, 2024. By signing it, Respondent attested "**that the answers given herein are true and complete to the best of my knowledge**" (emphasis added). She also attached a resume listing the Dunbar address as her residence (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 109-110). The resume stated that she worked in Nicholas County

as a Magistrate Assistant from November 2005 to December 2016 and that she worked temporarily as a Magistrate Assistant in Kanawha from June 2019 to August 22, 2019.

On or about January 26, 2024, Earl Whittington was appointed to replace Magistrate Ferrell. Magistrate Whittington took office on or about February 16, 2024 (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 132-135). On January 26, 2024, Respondent filed a Certificate of Announcement with the Nicholas County Clerk declaring her candidacy for Magistrate, Division 2 and listed her current "legal residence" as 405 Main St., Summersville, WV 26651 (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 111).

On January 29, 2024, JDC received an email from the Honorable Maryclaire Akers, Judge of the 13th Judicial Circuit, alleging that Respondent lied on her Kanawha County Magistrate application about her address (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 112-113) She found out the Dunbar address provided by Respondent belonged to Kirstie Trabert, Magistrate Ferrell's/Whittington's Assistant, and that Respondent really lived in Nicholas County.

Judge Akers questioned Trabert who claimed the agreement existed for approximately three months but that she only had one payment receipt from mid-January 2024. She said there was no rental contract or agreement. Judge Akers also provided an email from Respondent, dated January 22, 2024, at 1:21:37 p.m., in which Respondent said, "I had moved to Kanawha County in 2021 and, after transferring to Nicholas, I have maintained a residence in Kanawha due to wanting to run in the upcoming election for one of the new magistrate seats" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 113)(emphasis added).

On January 31, 2024, Judicial Disciplinary Counsel opened a complaint on Respondent (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 104-113). By letter dated February 12, 2024, Respondent replied to the complaint (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 114-115). Respondent stated:

I absolutely applied and I used my current rental address on my application. My agreement with Kirstie Trabert was reached last year because I had every

intention of running for Magistrate in Kanawha County and per that agreement, I will be paying rent to her through May of 2024.

(emphasis added). She also stated that "[i]t was never my intent, when I applied for the appointment to be anything other than transparent and honest" (emphasis added). Respondent also said:

As my tax records show, I purchased a Condo in Charleston in 2021 because I was tired of driving to and from Summersville to Charleston every day and paying for a hotel room when I had weekend court or the weather was bad. My condo sold very quickly, so by the time I realized I wanted to be back in Charleston, the condo was gone.

The evidence adduced during the investigation clearly and convincingly demonstrated that Respondent was never domiciled in Kanawha County. On December 12, 2019, Respondent filled out a judicial employment application form to work as a Magistrate Assistant in Kanawha County and listed her home address as 405 Main Street, Summersville [Nicholas County] (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 116-120). Importantly, she never changed the address with the Court even though on September 22, 2021, she bought a condo at 1313 Lee Street East, Charleston, Kanawha County (Jt. JHB Exhibit 5 at 136-139). She sold the condo on June 9, 2023, after she began working as a Magistrate in Nicholas County.¹ While she owned the condo, she also kept her long term residence in Nicholas County, and her husband resided there. Her address on her driver's license is and has always been in Nicholas County (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 121). Her voter's registration address is and has always been in Nicholas County (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 122). She pays all real and personal property taxes in Nicholas County (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 123-126). She had real property taxes only for 2023 for the Kanawha County property, and as of her sworn statement had not paid them (Jt. JHB Ex. 5

¹ On March 11, 2023, West Virginia House Bill 3332 passed the Legislature and gave Kanawha County three additional Magistrates as of January 1, 2025 following election of the same in May 2024. The bill went into effect 90 days from passage (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 139-156).

at 127). All of her utility bills are and have always been sent to her Nicholas County address (Jt. JHB Ex. 12 at 700-786).

On November 14, 2023, Respondent first made an attempt to rent a place in Kanawha County by contacting Kanawha Magistrate Assistant Megan Nearman via text message. Respondent stated, "Do you still have rental property I am needing an address in Kanawha County. What is rent?" (Jt. JHB Ex. 14 at 987). Nearman quoted a monthly fee and said, "If you are interested let me know. It's a small little house very small" (Jt. JHB Ex. 14 at 988-989). Respondent asked where the house was and Nearman replied that it was in Kanawha County (Jt. JHB Ex. 14 at 990). Respondent then asked how far it was from the Courthouse and Nearman replied that it was 25 to 30 minutes (Jt. JHB Ex. 14 at 991). Respondent told Nearman that she would talk to her husband when he came home and that she "really want[s] to run there" (Jt. JHB Ex. 14 at 993). Respondent ultimately rejected the offer as costing too much.

On or about November 16, 2023, Respondent contacted Trabert via text message and asked her if she could rent a room from her:

- Respondent: I was going to see if I could rent a room from you for an address until the election is over and if I win, I can find a regular place. I'll pay you 150 a month to use your address for my purpose. We have to keep it way on the down low. People only need to know I'm renting from you and I'll be able to work here [Nicholas County] with no issue.
- Trabert: that would be totally fine with me

Respondent: Sweet!

(Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 159-161). The two did not discuss Respondent renting a room again until January 2, 2024, when Respondent texted Trabert and asked her if she had PayPal (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 169). Respondent then asked Trabert if she was "still ok with me paying you 150 a month to be a roommate for a while." Trabert replied, "Yeah!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 170-171).

The two did not discuss rent again until January 9, 2024 when Respondent said she had to get her paperwork in to run for Kanawha County Magistrate. She texted Trabert, "OMG! I gotta get my paperwork in. What is our address? I have to get my rent to you" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 181-182). Trabert replied that the address was "______ St., Dunbar, WV 25064" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 182-183).

On January 11, 2024, Respondent contacted Trabert and told her that she was coming to Charleston tomorrow and would leave "your check on your desk" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 192-193). On January 12, 2024, Respondent went to the Kanawha County Courthouse and supposedly gave Trabert \$150 in cash (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 195-197). On January 19, 2024, Trabert attempted to call Respondent twice. She then contacted Respondent by text message at 4:02 p.m. and told her to "call me ASAP" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 204). Respondent called Trabert at 4:03:18 p.m. and the two spoke for three minutes. During that call, Trabert informed Respondent that Magistrate Ferrell resigned. At approximately 6:34 p.m., the following text exchange occurred between the two:

- Trabert: I am to the point where I either want you to try and go to Akers to get appointed or imma go talk to her about being appointed for the rest of the term. I don't want to run. But I also know that probably 2 of 4 people in this building are gonna try and get appointed that are running. . . .
- Respondent: nahh . . . I would venture a guess that they will bring in a Senior Status to fill the gap because the election is so close.

(Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 205-207).

During the evening of January 20, 2024, Trabert sent Respondent a copy of a WCHS article

on Ferrell resigning via text message and said, "submit it !!! send ya application!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5

at 217). Respondent replied that she would "do that tomorrow to get a head start!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5

at 218) On January 22, 2024, the following text colloquy took place between the two:

Respondent: I'm applying for Mike's [Ferrell's] position.

Trabert: Good.

Respondent: I'm using our address.

Trabert: yayyyy

(Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 226).

On Tuesday, January 23, 2024, Trabert texted Respondent and asked her if she sent in the application. Respondent replied, "I sent Judge Akers an email expressing my interest and I am sending my resume today. I had to think about who to use as references!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 227). Later, Respondent texted Trabert and said, "Application and resume sent . . for what it's worth" (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 228). That evening, Trabert told Respondent that Judge Akers "should be announcing [the new magistrate] Thursday" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 846). Trabert then told Respondent, "I think out of everyone you have the best bet." Respondent replied, "Awwww . . thanks. I hope so . . we would be a great team!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 847). Trabert responded, "oh most definitely and that you haven't filed yet is great cause no politics Imao" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 848). On Wednesday, January 24, 2024, Respondent told Trabert that she would be in Kanawha County on Friday to file paperwork to run in Kanawha. She also said, "If I do get the appointment I will be changing my address to a new rental address. You're an amazing landlord but we need our space." Respondent followed the latter statement with three laughing/tears of joy emojis (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 861).

Over the next two days, the two continued to exchange texts about the potential appointment. In a 1:17 p.m. text on Friday, January 26, 2024, Trabert informed Respondent that Earl Whittington had been appointed (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 897-898). Trabert then opined, "the only thing I think she [Judge Akers] could have tried to make an issue was your renting from me but the thing is we aren't related it doesn't matter" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 899). Respondent said, "I am

pissed off. . . . I'm devastated. I have all this experience and passion and knowledge" (Jt.

JHB Ex. 13 at 900-903).

By a text message dated Saturday, January 27, 2024, at 10:23 a.m., Respondent informed Trabert that she "filed in Nicholas" and that "if I win you're moving!" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 910). On February 2, 2024, Respondent told Trabert the following by text message:

I'm under investigation by the Judicial Investigation Committee. . . Someone filed a complaint against me alluding to the notion that I was somehow aware of Ferrell quitting and trying to use your address to get the appointment. They have copies of my and Doug's real estate and tax records and shit. I haven't looked at it completely. . . . Fuckers. I have been actively looking for an apartment for several months to move back down there and when I paid my January rent to you we had absolutely no clue about Ferrell. I'm so pissed. . . . Whatever. I have all my emails to apartment places and facts are facts.²

(Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 930-934). On February 13, 2024, Respondent sent Trabert a text letting her know that "I'm sticking my February and March rent in your Valentine's Day card. I'm sticking to our agreement and paying thru May" (Jt. JHB Ex. 13 at 939).

C. Trabert's First Sworn Statement.

JIC had to subpoena Trabert as she would not agree to voluntarily submit to a sworn statement. JIC also subpoenaed the following documents from her: Copies of any and all rental and/or contractual agreements by and between Respondent and Trabert for rent or mortgage payments for ______ Dunbar, WV from January 1, 2024 to the present; copies of any and all canceled checks and/or receipt of payments for rent or mortgage from Respondent to Trabert from January 1, 2022 to the present; copies of any and all electric, gas, water, sewer, phone and/or cable bills paid by Trabert from January 1, 2022 to the present; and copies of any bank records

² Respondent never submitted any of the emails to the JIC and a subpoena to the Supreme Court's IT Department did not turn up any work emails relating to renting living quarters in Kanawha County.

demonstrating the rental payments were received including but not limited to monthly statements, deposit slips, etc. from January 1, 2022 to the present.

A week before the sworn statement, Trabert contacted the undersigned and asked if she would have to appear personally if she submitted the documents via email. She was advised that she must appear and give a statement pursuant to the subpoena. On the appointed day, Trabert appeared but failed to bring the majority of the requested documents with her. Instead, she simply brought one receipt and two checks.

The receipt is for a cash payment of \$150. The receipt date is left blank. The property address is listed as "_______Street, Dunbar, 25064." The tenant's name is listed as "Elizabeth Boso." The rental period is listed as "January 1, 2024 to January 31, 2024." The date payment received is listed as "January 12, 2024." The payment type was "Cash." The Total Owed and Amount Paid were each listed as "\$150." And the remaining balance was listed as "0." There was no evidence in the bank records that Trabert subsequently provided to show that the cash was ever deposited into Trabert's bank accounts (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 233, Ex. 6 at 318, and Ex. 9 at 409-444).

The first check is from Respondent to Trabert in the amount of \$300. The check was dated "2-12-24," or the same day as Respondent's written response to the ethics complaint. The memo line indicated it was for "Feb & Mar" rent payments. Respondent mailed the check and Trabert remote deposited the money into her bank account on or about February 21, 2024 (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 229-230, Ex. 6 at 319 and Ex. 9 at 428).

The second check is from Respondent to Trabert in the amount of \$300. The check was dated "4-19-24." The memo line indicated it was for "April & May Rent." Respondent mailed the check and Trabert remote deposited the money into her bank account on or about May 9, 2024, or the date of her first sworn statement (Jt. JHB Ex. 5 at 231-232, Ex. 6 at 320 and Ex. 9 at 444).

Until June 2023, Trabert lived in an apartment in Charleston (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 244, 246 and 292-293). On or about June 20, 2023, Trabert bought a two bedroom/one bath house at

______, Dunbar (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 244-246, 294-317). The house is 865 square feet and also contains a kitchen, living room and laundry room (Jt. JHB ex. 6 at 246, 294-317). Trabert moved into the home in late June 2023 with her cat and dog (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 246). She paid \$113,000 for the house, and her monthly mortgage payment is a little less than \$850.00 (Jt JHB Ex. 6 at 246-47, 294-317). Trabert testified that all utilities – electric, gas, water, sewer, trash and wi-fi -- have been in her name since she purchased the property and that Respondent's name has never been on any of the bills (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 247).

Trabert testified that after Respondent left Kanawha County's employ and sold her townhouse, she would occasionally come to Charleston for a visit. She indicated that the trips were just "day trips" and that Respondent never spent the night at Trabert's house. She said that Respondent never stayed at her Dunbar residence between June 2023 and December 31, 2023 (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 252).

Trabert also said that Respondent never stayed at the property when Trabert was there but did not know whether Respondent stayed there when she was gone. Trabert's details about when she was present or absent from her apartment were sketchy at best. However, she did say that she provided Respondent with a key (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 256-257, 259-262). When asked if she had done anything with Respondent between January and May 2024, Trabert testified:

- A. The only thing I can recall right now is the day that I saw her when she came to visit which was on the 12th [of January]. There's probably more, but that's the only thing I can sit here and picture in my head.
- Q. And she didn't spend the night on the 12th; is that correct?
- A. No.

(Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 263).

Trabert testified that Respondent never left any personal belongings at the Dunbar address (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 272). Trabert also testified she never saw any evidence of anyone being inside her house when she hadn't been there (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 273). Trabert said she had a security camera inside her house to observe her animals but never saw Respondent in any video (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 273).

Although they talked about Respondent renting a room from Trabert on prior occasions, Trabert acknowledged that Respondent didn't give her any money until January 12, 2024 (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 254). Respondent never looked at the house before agreeing to rent from Trabert (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 263). According to Trabert, the agreed upon price was \$150 a month (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 254). Trabert said she received the money from Respondent in cash. Trabert said there was never a written rental agreement (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 255, 263). When asked why she only charged Respondent \$150 a month when her mortgage was close to \$850, Trabert replied, "It was just temporary . . . I know that she was still looking for a place to move back down here. . . . (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 255-256). Trabert acknowledged that she paid approximately \$250 a month in utilities; Respondent and she never discussed Respondent paying utilities; and the \$150 a month rental payment did not include utilities.

Trabert was adamant that the verbal agreement was month to month and was not a six month lease (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 258). However, Trabert acknowledged that Respondent had made payments for February, March, April and May.

Trabert testified that she found out that Magistrate Ferrell resigned on the day of his resignation (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 243). Trabert lied to the undersigned and stated that she did not know how Respondent found out about his resignation but that she did not tell her (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 253).

Trabert said that prior to Earl Whittington being selected Magistrate, Respondent and she never discussed whether it was permissible for her to rent a room to someone who may be her boss. She said she didn't think about it. She also acknowledged that she never asked anyone about the arrangement (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 269-271).

She said at some point Judge Akers asked to speak to her about the rental arrangement. Trabert told Judge Akers that she was in fact renting a room to Respondent and provided her with a copy of the January 2024 receipt (Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 271). Trabert testified:

A. So she asked me if Elizabeth Boso was renting a room from me, if our addresses were the same. She asked if I was letting her just use my address, but I told her she was renting a room from me.

(Jt. JHB Ex. 6 at 274-275).

D. Trabert's Second Sworn Statement:

Trabert was given an opportunity to correct any misstatements she made in her second sworn statement which occurred on May 22, 2024. This time she brought Attorney Dave Pence to represent her. By this time or shortly thereafter, Trabert had provided everything requested of her. She provided copies of her work schedule and her time sheets for the relevant period (Jt. JHB Ex. 8). She also turned over her pertinent bank information (Jt. JHB Ex. 9). She provided her telephone records which demonstrate only six calls between the two between November 1, 2023, and May 9, 2024:

Date & Time	Caller	Length
11/03/2023 @ 11:20:29 a.m.	Trabert called Respondent	10 min.
12/21/2023 @ 4:47:05 p.m.	Respondent called Trabert	51 min.
1/19/2024 @ 3:58:39 p.m.	Trabert called Respondent	1 min.
1/19/2024 @ 4:01:41 p.m.	Trabert called Respondent	1 min.
1/19/2024 @ 4:03:18 p.m.	Respondent called Trabert	3 min.

3/13/2024 @ 11:01:46 a.m. Trabert called Respondent 10 min. (Jt. JHB Ex. 10 at 445-448). Lastly, Trabert turned over copies of her utilities which demonstrate that she was listed on all bills while Respondent was not listed on any (Jt. JHB Ex. 11).

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