IN THE MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH BOSO, MAGISTRATE OF NICHOLAS COUNTY

SUPREME COURT NO. 24-0436 JIC COMPLAINT NO. 22-2024

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted by: Elizabeth Boso Nicholas County Magistrate 511 Church Street Summersville, WV 26651 (304) 872-7850 elizabeth.boso@courtswv.gov

WV Supreme Court No. 24-0436 JIC Complaint No. 22-2024

SUMMARY

On March 23, 2023, I left my position of Magistrate Assistant to Kanawha County Magistrate Pete Lopez as I had taken the assistant's position to Magistrate Sarah Brown in Nicholas County. At that time, my husband and I decided to sell our condo in Kanawha County as my HOA did not permit us to rent it out. The condo sold quickly, and we closed the sale in June of 2023. After returning to Nicholas County, I was met with a fairly hostile work environment due to issues that were in play prior to my taking the job and to which I had not been a part of or party to. I had decided to try and return to Kanawha County, but I did not want to sign a year long lease without first obtaining a new position there.

On January 12, 2024, I visited with the people at Kanawha County Magistrate Court and paid Kirstie Traebert \$150 in cash per our oral agreement. On January 19, 2024, I received several text messages that Kanawha County Magistrate Mike Ferrell had just quit. Initially I figured that a Senior Status Magistrate would be filling in until the May election when the newly elected Magistrate would take over that position. I heard a couple days later that Judge Mary Claire Akers would be appointing someone to fill that position.

On January 22, 2024, I emailed Judge Akers letting her know that I was interested in the appointment. In that email I stated that I had maintained a residence in Kanawha County. What I had meant by that was I had a residence to stay at per my oral agreement with Ms. Traebert. I was and had been actively looking for an apartment in Charleston at that time so my agreement with Ms. Traebert gave me a place to live and an address in Charleston until I was able to secure my own place again.

On January 23, 2024, I filled out the Supreme Court job application and used Ms. Traebert's Dunbar address as that would be where I would be staying should I get the appointment and submitted that along with my resume via email to Judge Akers.

On the afternoon of January 26, 2024, I received a text that Judge Akers had appointed Earl Whittington. I was disappointed, of course, and I sent out the now quoted text of "F—k them!"

Late afternoon on Friday, January 26, 2024, I filed to run for Magistrate in Nicholas County as my then boss, Magistrate Sarah Brown, had definitively chosen not to run for re-election.

On Friday, February 2, 2024, I received a notice of a certified letter from the JIC. I was on my way to the hospital because my mom's lung had collapsed from a cancer biopsy, so I stopped by the post office and picked up the package. Inside was a copy of the ethics complaint filed by Judge Akers as well as copies of mine and my husband's property tax records on every piece of property we owned and where I had sold my condo in Charleston in June of 2023. I was given 10 days to respond.

I admit that my initial response was a two-page letter venting my frustration, surprise and anger and it was fueled by emotional and physical exhaustion.

The complaint listed me as a Judicial Candidate in Kanawha County and Nicholas County to which I would argue that I was never a judicial candidate in Kanawha, but merely a job applicant. The judicial application that I signed is not a sworn document, but it does state that the information contained in the application is true to the best of my knowledge, and to the best of my knowledge, it was.

I was never contacted about my application nor was my inquiry email acknowledged. I was not intentionally deceptive and if I had been questioned regarding anything in my application, I would have been truthful.

My text message to Ms. Traebert where I used an inappropriate word was an expression of frustration to a friend in what I believed to be a private conversation on my personal phone, and I am deeply saddened that it was made public.

I realize that my response to the complaint was inappropriate and it in no way reflects the person that I am. I did apologize to the JIC in my first interview, and I am very sorry that I responded the way I did. I have been with the WV Supreme Court of Appeals for over 16 years, and I have never been accused of being unethical. That is the part that hurts the most. No one takes this job more seriously than I do, whether working as an assistant or, for the past almost 10 months, as a Magistrate.

I have served as Magistrate of Nicholas County since July of 2024, and I understand the importance of the public's trust and confidence in the court system. As I stated to Ms. Tarr, I did not hire an attorney because doing so would not change the facts. I did apply for the job; I did use Ms. Traebert's address as I had arranged with her and paid rent to her per our oral agreement and I did respond in an inappropriate manner.

I do not know Judge Akers and have only exchanged small pleasantries as she passed through Day Court, but I have followed some of her cases and I have a lot of respect for her. I have no ill will toward anyone who complained that I applied for the opening left by Magistrate Ferrell. I did not purposefully or deliberately attempt to deceive anyone and would have gladly given any requested information truthfully.

I was originally offered a three-month suspension and a \$1,000.00 fine plus costs and was told that I could counter that offer. I asked that I not be suspended and that I would pay the fine and costs and accept a sanction. The agreement between myself and the JIC was a two-month suspension and cost of the investigation without fine. I chose to accept that agreement based on the fact that I could have been facing a one-year suspension.

In summary I would respectfully ask this court to consider my past 16 plus years of service with this court and during that time, there has never been any disciplinary action filed against me.

Respectfully submitted,

ihin.

Elizabet<mark>h</mark> Boso

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN THE MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH BOSO, MAGISTRATE OF NICHOLAS COUNTY

SUPREME COURT NO. 24-0436 JIC COMPLAINT NO. 22-2024